



The importance of emotional resilience for staff and students in the 'helping' professions: developing an emotional curriculum

Louise Grant, Senior Lecturer in Social Work, University of Bedfordshire Gail Kinman, Professor of Occupational Health Psychology, University of Bedfordshire December 2013

Contents

Introduction	3
The issues	3
What is emotional resilience?	5
Reflective ability	6
Emotional intelligence/literacy	7
Social competence	9
Social support	10
How can emotional resilience be enhanced?	10
Enhancing reflective practice	11
Mentoring and peer coaching to enhance support	12
Mindfulness	13
Experiential learning	14
Conclusion	14
References	15

Introduction

This research briefing provides an overview of research that has examined the benefits of emotional resilience for the wellbeing and employability of 'helping professionals' such as social workers, nurses and midwives. It is relevant to people who educate helping professionals, as well as the students that they teach. The briefing introduces the competencies that have been associated with emotional resilience (such as emotional literacy, reflective ability, appropriate empathy and social competence) and considers how they have the potential to help people cope with the emotional demands inherent in helping professions. Some evidence-based strategies are highlighted that can help academics develop a curriculum to foster emotional resilience in students training for the helping professions.

The issues

A body of research indicates that working in the helping professions is rewarding but emotionally demanding. The findings of an international study of nurses conducted by Aitken et al. (2012) reported that 42% of the sample described themselves as "burned out". Several studies of social workers have found higher levels of work-related stress and burnout than many other occupational groups (e.g. Lloyd, King and Chenoweth 2002; Johnson et al. 2005; Collins 2008). Burnout has been defined "as a syndrome of emotional exhaustion, depersonalisation, and reduced personal accomplishment that can occur among individuals who work with people in some capacity" (Maslach, Jackson and Leiter 1996, p. 4). It is generally considered to be a construct comprising three components: emotional exhaustion, depersonalisation, and reduced personal accomplishment, and is considered to be particularly prevalent among those working in people-oriented professions (Maslach, Schaufeli and Leiter 2001). Moreover, secondary trauma and compassion fatigue are commonly found among helping professionals (Adams, Boscarino and Figley 2006). Psychological distress has been associated with a wide range of stressors in helping professionals, both in relation to their role and the wider organisational context (e.g. Coyle et al. 2005; Jennings 2008). Managing situations of complexity and uncertainty, lack of control and interactions with service users that evoke strong emotional reactions, are considered to be particularly challenging (van Heutgen 2011). Work-related stress has a negative impact on employees that is wide-ranging. As well as the psychological health problems highlighted above, stress has been associated with impaired performance, physical illness, turnover and sickness absence (Kinman and Jones 2001). A report recently published in the UK found that, in the previous five years, 20% of the country's 76,000 social workers had been signed off work for more than 20 consecutive days due to conditions such as stress or anxiety (Research by the Conservative party The Observer 2008). Retention and continuity

of care is of particular concern, as many helping professionals are leaving jobs such as nursing and social work for careers that are less emotionally demanding (Barak et al. 2001; DePanfilis and Zlotnik 2008). The retention problems in social work in particular are highlighted by the findings of a study commissioned by the Local Government Association (LGA) (2009): 60% of local authorities reported experiencing difficulties retaining staff, representing an increase of 20% from the previous year. More specifically, Curtis et al. (2009) calculated that the average time spent in the social work profession is less than eight years, with work-related stress being one of the most common reasons for leaving.

High levels of work-related stress and burnout have been found in trainees as well as qualified helping professionals (Deary et al. 2003; Jack and Donnellan 2010; Kinman and Grant 2011). Indeed, research findings suggest that the training period can be more stressful than qualified practice (Tobin and Carson 1994). The conflicting demands of being a student and an emerging professional can be particularly distressing (Pearcey and Elliott 2004). There is also evidence that many students feel ill-prepared for the realities of practice, which can engender psychological and physical health problems (Collins 2008; Jimenez et al. 2010; Clements et al. 2013). Strong emotional reactions to placement experiences can also diminish self-confidence and perceptions of professional effectiveness, post-qualification, which can result in attrition (Jack and Donellan 2010). The stress experienced by students training for the helping professions is likely to be exacerbated by their reluctance to disclose that they are experiencing difficulties (Barlow and Hall 2007; Wilks and Spivey 2010). Despite these known problems, however, the curriculum for helping professionals tends to place little emphasis on developing effective stress management and self-care strategies to protect personal wellbeing (Radley and Figley 2007).

Although undoubtedly stressful, it should be acknowledged that the majority of helping professionals enjoy their work and find it deeply satisfying (Stalker et al. 2007; Collins 2008; Mealer et al. 2012). Gaining insight into why some helping professionals who experience high levels of stress at work not only fail to burn out, but may even flourish has clear potential to inform the development of interventions to enhance wellbeing in the sector. Those who educate helping professionals are responsible for creating positive learning environments to prepare their students for the realities and challenges of professional practice and ensure their sustained employability. There is a growing recognition that introducing strategies to enhance emotional resilience during pre-qualifying training can help achieve this aim. Indeed, there have been recent calls for emotional resilience to be an intrinsic part of the training of nurses (Corrin 2013), midwives (McDonald et al. 2012) and social workers (Grant and Kinman 2012). The importance of resilience has also been recognised by professional associations. For example, the College of Social Work (2012) requires students to be

able to "take steps to manage and promote their own safety, health, wellbeing and emotional resilience" by the end of their qualifying course.

What is emotional resilience?

Although organisations have a duty of care to protect the wellbeing of their employees, it is widely acknowledged that employees need to enhance their personal resilience to survive and thrive. It is argued that emotional resilience may be a particularly important quality for helping professionals, as it can help them adapt positively to stressful working conditions, manage emotional demands, foster effective coping strategies, improve wellbeing and enhance professional growth (Morrison 2007; Collins 2008; Macdonald et al. 2012; Stephens 2013). There are, therefore, many likely benefits for professionals, service users and society in general.

In order to understand how emotional resilience can be enhanced, it is important to have a clear understanding of the concept and its underpinning competencies. Resilience is a complex and multifaceted construct (Grant and Kinman 2013). A wide range of definitions can be found in the literature, but most reflect the ability to "recover" from adversity, react appropriately, or "bounce back" when life gets tough. This approach conveys the adaptive nature of resilience, but does not capture its complexity or its proactive nature. Resilience has most frequently been examined as a protective resource in children who have experienced major life changes, deprivation and stress (e.g. Haggerty et al. 1996). Research in occupational settings is still in its infancy, but some attempts have been made to examine the nature of resilience in helping professionals (e.g. Kinman and Grant 2011; Adamson et al. 2012; Stephens 2013). Of particular importance to educators and training professionals, is the growing evidence that resilience is not an innate, fixed characteristic, but can be developed through carefully targeted interventions (McAllister and McKinnon 2008; McDonald et al. 2010; Beddoe et al. 2013).

Research conducted by the authors of this briefing have explored the ways in which trainee and qualified social workers, and those that educate them, conceptualise resilience, why they think it is important, and how they believe this quality may be enhanced. (Grant and Kinman 2013; Grant et al. 2013). The findings suggest that personal meanings of resilience are extremely varied and the concept is thought to encompass a wide range of skills and abilities. The importance of utilising strategies proactively, rather than merely reacting to adverse events was also emphasised. In order to develop interventions to enhance resilience in helping professionals, it is vital to gain insight into the competencies that underpin it and the strategies that can be used to enhance it using a rigorous, evidence-based approach.

According to Chen (2010), resilient nurses are reflective, optimistic and socially competent; they also possess good problem solving skills and have a sense of purpose. Emotional intelligence or literacy has also been associated with resilience, whereby people who have well developed inter-personal and intra-personal emotion management skills are better able to manage emotional demands (Van Rooy and Viswesvaran 2004). Furthermore, a programme of research conducted with social workers (Kinman and Grant 2011; Grant and Kinman 2012) found that resilient practitioners are those who have well-developed reflective skills, social confidence, flexible coping styles, strong social support networks and an effective work–life balance. Moreover, resilient social workers are able to demonstrate "accurate empathy": that is, they can build compassionate relationships with service users without becoming emotionally over-involved.

A review of the literature highlights a range of attributes that has been associated with emotional resilience in helping professionals (sources include: Koen et al. 2011; Kinman and Grant 2011; Grant and Kinman 2012; Stephens 2013; Jensen et al. 2008; Chen 2010):

- self-awareness;
- self-efficacy;
- emotional intelligence/literacy;
- reflective ability;
- optimism;
- social confidence;
- sense of humour:
- accurate empathy;
- good support networks;
- effective coping skills;
- commitment to self-care;
- problem-solving skills;
- cultural competence;
- a commitment to professional values;
- work–life balance.

The following competencies are considered to be particularly important in enhancing resilience in students training for the helping professions and will be examined in more detail:

- reflective ability;
- emotional intelligence/literacy;
- social competencies;
- social support.

Reflective ability

Reflective practice is a key component of the curriculum for training helping professions. Enhanced reflective skills have been associated with improved practice in a wide range of helping contexts (e.g. Mann et al. 2007). Reflecting on personal strengths and limitations can also foster many of the competencies associated with resilience that have been outlined above; particularly improvements in self-awareness and coping and problem solving skills. Research conducted by Kinman and Grant (2011) found that social work students who were better able to reflect on their practice, consider their personal motivations, and explore the nature and impact of their empathic interactions with service users, were not only more resilient but reported higher levels of psychological wellbeing.

In clinical contexts, the process of reflection has been found to help nurses and midwives tackle seemingly intractable difficulties and foster resilient behaviours (Edward and Hercelinskyj 2008; McDonald et al. 2012). Well-developed reflective abilities have also been found to underpin emotional literacy and accurate empathy in helping professionals, as well as facilitating supportive interpersonal relationships that can buffer workplace stress (Ruch 2007; Grant 2013). Developing reflective ability, therefore, has strong potential to enhance emotional resilience as well as foster the competencies that underpin it.

Training in reflexivity, or the ability to 'reflect about reflection' (Fook and Askeland 2006), is likely to help students develop the intellectual as well as the emotional ability to reflect on their practice. Evidence is accumulating to indicate that reflective ability is multi-dimensional and strategies to develop different aspects (such as empathic reflection and reflective communication) are likely to be particularly fruitful for helping professionals (Aukes *et al.* 2007; Grant 2012).

Emotional intelligence/literacy

Emotional intelligence has been defined broadly by Goleman (1996, p. 34) as the ability to "motivate oneself and persist in the face of frustrations: to control impulse and delay gratification; to regulate one's moods and keep distress from swamping the ability to think; to empathise and to hope". These qualities are essential for helping professionals and key components of emotional resilience.

Emotional intelligence has both inter-personal aspects (i.e. social intelligence) as well as intra-personal elements (i.e. self-awareness). Inter-personal emotional intelligence helps people relate confidently and empathically to others, whereas intra-personal emotional intelligence allows people to gain insight into their emotional state, regulate their moods effectively, and build their emotional resources (Salovey et al. 2002; Frederickson 2001). Strong positive relationships have been found between emotional intelligence and several positive outcomes such as physical and psychological health and life satisfaction (Salovey et al. 2002; Carmeli and Josman 2006; Mikolajczak et al. 2006).

Moreover, emotionally intelligent people tend to be more psychologically flexible, optimistic, socially confident and co-operative, and possess superior problem solving and decision-making skills (George 2000; Bonnano *et al.* 2004).

Emotional intelligence is generally considered a key competence for helping professionals such as social workers (Howe 2008), nurses (Freshwater and Stickley 2004) and midwives (Byrom and Downe 2010). The important role played by emotional intelligence in enhancing the resilience and psychological wellbeing of helping professionals has also been highlighted (Kinman and Grant 2011) and it has been found to protect against burnout and compassion fatigue in a range of helping contexts (McQueen 2004; Killian 2008; Görgens-Ekermans and Brand 2012). More specifically, emotional intelligence will help employees manage their own emotional reactions and those of others and recognise the potential impact of their personal emotional states on their problem solving and decision making (Howe 2008). Emotional intelligence has also been found to underpin the development of "accurate" empathy; this helps professionals build effective emotional boundaries enabling them to deliver compassionate, person-centred care and avoid over-involvement with service users or the development of cynical attitudes towards them (Grant 2013). There are many benefits of accurate empathy for the wellbeing of helping professionals and this has been positively related to resilience and psychological wellbeing and negatively associated with empathic distress (Kinman and Grant 2011; Grant 2013).

Cultural intelligence is an aspect of emotional intelligence that is likely to be of particular relevance to helping professionals (Campinha-Bacote 2002; Caffrey et al. 2005; Dominelli and Hackett 2013). Several personal capacities are believed to underpin cultural intelligence, such as the ability to communicate in a culturally appropriate manner and to understand and respect the values, beliefs and practices of people from different backgrounds and identity (Chung and Bernak 2002; Shams-Avari 2005; Carter et al. 2006). More research is required, however, to identify the key components of cultural intelligence in different helping professions and inform the development of interventions to enhance them in the curriculum.

Unlike general intelligence quotient (IQ), there is evidence that aspects of emotional intelligence can be developed through life experience and training (Fariselli, Ghini and Freedman 2008). Incorporating strategies to enhance emotional intelligence into the curriculum is likely to yield many benefits for the wellbeing of helping professionals as well as the service they provide. Like the other components of resilience discussed above, emotional intelligence is a transferable skill that will help people manage their personal as well as their professional life.

Some scholars in the field advocate a move towards using the term "emotional literacy" rather than emotional intelligence as this is considered less evaluative. Emotional literacy is:

... the ability to understand your emotions, the ability to listen to others and empathise with their emotions, and the ability to express emotions productively. To be emotionally literate is to be able to handle emotions in a way that improves your personal power and improves the quality of life around you. Emotional literacy improves relationships, creates loving possibilities between people, makes co-operative work possible, and facilitates the feeling of community. (Steiner and Perry 1997, p. 11).

This approach may be particularly appropriate for the education and training of helping professionals as it suggests a competence which can develop throughout life.

Social competence

Social confidence, assertiveness, and well-developed communication and conflict resolution skills are essential qualities in helping professionals: they have also been associated with emotional resilience in this working context (Howe et al. 2012; McDonald et al. 2012; Pines et al. 2012). It is often assumed that people entering the helping professions already possess highly developed social skills, so the curriculum tends not to focus on developing these competencies further (Morrison 2005). Nonetheless, studies of social work, nursing and midwifery students indicate that levels of social competence vary considerably highlighting the need for more training (Timmins and McCabe 2005; Grant and Kinman 2012; Pines et al. 2012).

Well-developed social skills have many positive implications for helping professionals. The findings of a study of nursing students conducted by Jackson et al. (2011) revealed that students who managed stress more successfully during placements were those with a strong sense of professional identity and, more specifically, those who possessed the self-assurance to challenge and resist poor clinical practice. These skills enabled students to endure hostile work behaviours and manage conflict appropriately which, in turn, enhanced their emotional resilience. Social competence also helps people to advocate for themselves and others in a skilful and productive manner – which is an intrinsic aspect of the helping role. Unsurprisingly, confidence in social situations has also been found to enhance the quality of working relationships and help people forge effective social support networks (Montes-Berges and Augusto 2007). Being socially competent is, therefore, a key quality for those in the helping professions and one that should be promoted in the curriculum.

Social support

Social support refers to positive psychosocial interactions with others with whom there is mutual trust and concern. People who have more supportive relationships tend to experience less stress and be more physically and psychologically healthy (Sarason et al. 1985). Support from a wide social network can also foster feelings of social connectedness and empathy, which are important resources for helping professionals. On the other hand, a lack of social support can engender feelings of social alienation as well as depression, anxiety and burnout (Eskin 2003; Sundin et al. 2007; Li et al. 2012).

It is generally agreed that social support is one of the most important mechanisms by which helping professionals can build their resilience (Collins 2008; Jensen et al. 2008; Wilks and Spivey 2010). Support from lecturers, practice educators and mentors is vital to help students develop their academic, practical and emotional competencies. There is evidence that mutually supportive relationships with peers within educational settings can be particularly beneficial as they can help students to develop a "community of learning" which enhances their ability to cope with stress as well as developing their academic and practical skills (Kevern and Webb 2004). Peer support can also help students develop a professional identity and enhance their commitment to the job role, which has the potential to improve retention (Clements et al. 2012). In the practice setting, a supportive work environment and social support from colleagues in particular have also been found to protect helping professionals against burnout and compassion fatigue (Boscarino et al. 2004; Jenkins and Elliott 2004). Increasing opportunities to forge mutually supportive relationships with peers can have many benefits and should be encouraged in the curriculum.

How can emotional resilience be enhanced?

The concept of emotional resilience embraces the knowledge, personal qualities and skills required for a sustained and successful career in social work (Kinman and Grant 2011) and nursing and midwifery (McDonald et al. 2012) as well as other helping professions. An awareness of the ways in which emotional resilience can be fostered is likely to help students to thrive in their career – rather than merely survive – and make a positive contribution to the lives of their patients and clients. The need to develop evidence-based interventions to enhance resilience among trainee and qualified helping professionals has been widely emphasised (Hodges et al. 2008; McAllister and McKinnon 2008; Glass 2009). Some of the competencies that underpin resilience in different groups of helping professionals have been discussed above. The need for a curriculum that nurtures reflective learning, emotional literacy, empathy and self-awareness, provides supportive supervision, and facilitates the

development of nurturing social relationships has been highlighted (Freshwater and Stickley 2004; Grant and Kinman 2012; McDonald et al. 2012; Beddoe et al. 2013). Although these competencies may already feature to some extent in the qualifying curricula of some institutions, they may not be sufficiently focused on the development of emotional resilience (Grant and Kinman 2013).

The next section highlights several evidenced-based strategies that have strong potential to enhance self-care and resilience. These are:

- enhancing reflective practice;
- mentoring and peer coaching to enhance support;
- mindfulness and relaxation;
- experiential learning.

Enhancing reflective practice

The key role played by reflective ability in supporting resilience has been noted throughout this briefing. The development of reflective thinking skills can help professionals explore the dynamics of their emotional reactions, doubts, assumptions and beliefs and the ways in which they impact on their wellbeing and their practice. There are several techniques that could be utilised to enhance this key competency. Narrative writing has particular potential to facilitate reflection and enhance self-awareness, empathic reflection and reflective communication in helping professionals (Hodges et al. 2008; Bolton 2010). In particular, asking students to write a narrative from the client or patient's perspective, and sharing these reflections in small groups of peers, can increase communication skills, help engender appropriate empathy and improve professional practice (DasGupta and Charon 2004; Hurley and Linsley 2012). Encouraging narrative competence is, therefore, likely to be a particularly fruitful addition to the curriculum.

Many trainee and qualified helping professionals develop their reflective learning through the process of supervision. According to Edwards and Hercelinskyj (2007), supervision provides a safe environment in which professionals can reflect on their practice and disclose and discuss their emotional reactions. These authors have also highlighted the important role that reflective supervision can play in helping students develop a flexible repertoire of problem-solving and coping styles and engender a goal-oriented perspective. As discussed above, these competencies are all important foundations for resilience.

Group supervision has been found to be beneficial in helping trainee nurses and social workers manage academic and practice-related stress. This technique also has considerable potential in helping professionals to enhance their resilience. A study by Arvidsson et al. (2008) evaluated the impact of

group supervision sessions within the nursing curriculum. The sessions required the students to reflect on emotional reactions to their practice and how they related to decisions and assessments they had undertaken. This was followed by feedback on the emotional and theoretical content of their reflection and a discussion of alternative courses of action. The intervention had a wide-ranging positive impact: students' self-confidence, sense of professional identity and motivation to learn were enhanced, as well as their ability to manage stress.

Although supervision has great potential to support and enhance resilience, many students are not fully prepared to utilise this resource effectively. Ensuring that supervision is utilised to best effect requires an understanding of its purpose, awareness of the need to be adequately prepared and a commitment to personal development. Reflective diaries can be useful tools to accomplish this, as trainee can explore and review their emotional reactions to practice prior to supervision and make reflective notes made on key themes that have emerged. Encouraging students to develop the skills required to prepare for reflective supervision or other supportive forums can help them maximise their benefits during training and subsequent professional practice.

Mentoring and peer coaching to enhance support

As emphasised previously in this briefing, helping students to develop supportive relationships is an essential component for resilience. As well as emphasising the need for students to develop techniques to seek out effective support in practice, it is important for educators to enhance supportive structures within the curriculum. In their synthesis of the nursing education literature, McAllister and McKinnon (2008) propose that the ideal educational environment for supporting resilience is one that establishes effective social connection with peers and other adults, and incorporates positive role-modelling and coaching techniques.

The development of a peer coaching scheme has strong potential to integrate important facets of resilience, such as social support, reflection and goal setting, into the curriculum. Peer coaching refers to a collaborative relationship which aims to enhance personal development by helping people identify personal strengths, promote self-awareness and develop reflective techniques (Goleman and Cherniss 2001; Gyllensten and Palmer 2005). There is also evidence that a brief peer coaching intervention can help students protect their psychological wellbeing during stressful periods (Short et al. 2010). Educators of helping professionals could use peer coaching techniques for personal development planning. Its strengths-focused philosophy has the potential to foster optimism and a positive outlook among students and help them develop action-orientated solutions to difficult situations, as well as develop strategies for self-care.

Mentoring programmes may also help students build resilience (Hodges *et al.* 2008) as they provide opportunities to gain support and enhance problem-solving capabilities. Sergeant and Laws-Chapman (2012) have evaluated a training and subsequent mentorship programme designed to support newly qualified nurses in their transition from students to qualified practitioners. The intervention was found to enhance stress management skills and improve social relationships within the hospital. It also led to improvements in employees' self-awareness, empathy and communication skills.

Introducing creative techniques for mentoring and peer coaching into the curriculum has strong potential to support the development of emotional resilience and develop structures to support trainee helping professionals as they move on to qualified practice.

Mindfulness

Mindfulness involves "paying attention in a particular way: on purpose, in the present moment, and non-judgmentally" (Kabat-Zinn 2004, p. 4). Evidence is emerging from a range of professional contexts that mindfulness training can help employees manage work-related stress (Foureur *et al.* 2013). Mindfulness skills have also been found to enhance many of the competencies that underpin resilience such as reflective ability, emotional intelligence and accurate empathy (Turner 2009; Bolton 2010). Studies of helping professionals also provide evidence that mindfulness can relieve compassion fatigue, burnout and vicarious trauma (Cunningham 2004; Thomas and Otis 2011; Kessen and Turner 2012; Hülsheger *et al.* 2013).

Like peer coaching discussed above, there is evidence that mindfulness techniques can have a positive impact even after short-term interventions. Mindfulness Based Stress Reduction (MBSR) is a technique developed by Kabat-Zinn (2003) that incorporates meditation, yoga and relaxation training. MBSR has been associated with enhanced levels of empathic self-awareness, self-compassion and emotional resilience in professions such as medicine, nursing and social work (Shapiro, Brown and Biegel 2007; Krasner et al. 2009; Pipe et al. 2009; Napoli and Bonifas 2011). A study of nursing students conducted by Beddoe and Murphy (2004) also found that an eight-week MBSR course resulted in reduced levels of empathic distress among participants. Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT, see Hayes 1987) is a technique that harnesses the principles of mindfulness. When delivered in workplace settings, ACT has had some success in enhancing psychological flexibility and emotion regulation skills and reducing psychological distress and burnout (Lloyd et al. 2013). Incorporating mindfulness techniques, such as MBSR and ACT, into the initial training of helping professions is likely to have many benefits for the wellbeing of helping professionals and their patients or clients.

Experiential learning

There is evidence that experiential learning can enhance many of the competencies associated with emotional resilience. Case studies, role plays and simulated practice, for example, can be used to improve emotion regulation reflective ability, emotional intelligence and empathy (Cunningham 2004; Gair 2011; Foster and McKenzie 2012). Work-based learning opportunities, or placements undertaken as part of training, can provide opportunities to help students develop the competencies that underpin resilience. According to Clarke (2006), workplace learning (particularly the use of case studies to facilitate dialogue and reflection) has particularly strong potential to enhance emotion management skills and the use of emotions to facilitate problem solving and decision making. As discussed above, effective emotion management skills are key elements of emotional resilience and essential in order to forge therapeutic relationships with service users. An experiential approach to enhancing emotional literacy has been recently developed by Grant, Kinman and Alexander (2014). Social work students observe experienced social workers, from different backgrounds and disciplines, who describe their personal emotional reactions to practice and ways in which they have processed them to ensure that their practice and personal wellbeing is not adversely affected. This is followed by a group discussion. Preliminary research findings indicate that this experiential approach improves aspects of emotional intelligence, reflective ability and empathy.

Conclusion

Although this research briefing focuses on the individual attributes associated with emotional resilience, it is important to note that organisations have a responsibility to protect the wellbeing of their employees. Even highly emotionally resilient professionals will be unable to survive, let alone thrive, if they are not provided with adequate resources, sufficient job control and support, or role clarity. Educators need to prepare students for the realities of caring work and encourage them to be assertive in seeking out the support they require to protect their own wellbeing, and to develop the confidence to advocate for working conditions which optimise the wellbeing of their patients and clients. Little is yet known about the features of resilient organisations. Future research should consider this issue and ways in which these attributes can be developed in leaders and managers to safeguard the wellbeing of staff.

Developing emotional resilience for practice is a key skill that will enhance wellbeing, job satisfaction and retention in the helping professions. It is anticipated that workers who demonstrate the associated competencies discussed in this briefing are likely to have a long and fruitful career.

Although many aspects of the 'emotional curriculum' may already be established in higher education institutions (HEIs), more emphasis needs to be placed on the need for emotional resilience and the development of creative, evidence-based strategies to enhance the competencies that underpin it. Adequate time and resources are required to help students develop their own personal toolkit of strategies to help them flourish in their subsequent careers.

References

- Adamson, C., Beddoe L. and Davys A. (2012) Building Resilient Practitioners: Definitions and Practitioner Understandings. *British Journal of Social Work*. Advance access [DOI: 10.1093/bjsw/bcs142]
- Adams, R., Boscarino, J. and Figley, C. (2006) Compassion fatigue and psychological distress among social workers: A validation study. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry.*, 76 (1), 103–08. [DOI:10.1037/0002-9432.76.1.103]
- Aiken, L., Sermeus, W., Van den Heede, K., Sloane, D.M., Busse, R., McKee, M., Bruyneel, L., Rafferty, A., Griffiths, P., Moreno-Casbas, M., Tishelman, C., Scott, A., Brzostek, T., Kinnunen, J., Shwendimann, R., Heinen, M., Zikos, D., Strømseng Sjetne, I., Smith, H. and Kutney-Lee, A. (2012) Patient safety, satisfaction, and quality of hospital care: cross sectional surveys of nurses and patients in 12 countries in Europe and the United States. *British Medical Journal*. 344e, 1717.
- Arvidsson, B., Skärsäter, I., Öijervall, J. and Fridlund, B. (2008) Process-oriented group supervision implemented during nursing education: nurses' conceptions I year after their nursing degree.

 Journal of Nursing Management. 16 (7), 868–75. [DOI:10.1111/j.1365-2834.2008.00925.x]
- Aukes, L., Geertsma, J., Cohen-Schotanus, J., Zwierstra, R. and Slaets, J. (2007) The development of a scale to measure personal reflection in medical practice and education. *Medical Teache*. 29 (2), 177–82.
- Barak, M., Nissley, J. and Levin, A. (2001) Antecedents to retention and turnover among child welfare, social work, and other human service employees: what can we learn from past research? A review and metanalysis. *Social Service Review*. 75 (4) 625–61.
- Barlow, C. and Hall, B. (2007) "What about feelings?" A study about tensions and emotions in social work field education. *Social Work Education*. 26 (4) 1–15.
- Beddoe, A.E. and Murphy, S. (2004) Does mindfulness decrease stress and foster empathy among nursing students? *Journal of Nursing Education*. 43, 305–12.
- Beddoe, L., Adamson, C. and Davys, A. (2013) Educating Resilient Practitioners. *Social Work Education*. 32 (1), 100–17. [DOI:10.1080/02615479.2011.644532]

- Bolton, G. (2010) Reflective Practice Writing and Professional Development. London: Sage.
- Bonanno, G. A. (2004) Loss, trauma, and human resilience: Have we underestimated the human capacity to thrive after extremely aversive events? *American Psychologist.* 59 (1), 20–8.
- Boscarino, J. A., Figley, C.R. and Adams, R.E. (2004) Compassion fatigue following the September 11 terrorist attacks: A study of secondary trauma among New York City social workers.

 International Journal of Emergency Mental Health. 6, 57–66.
- Byrom, S. and Downe, S. (2010) 'She sort of shines': midwives' accounts of 'good' midwifery and 'good' leadership. *Midwifery*. 26 (1), 126–37. [DOI: 10.1016/j.midw.2008.01.011]
- Caffrey, R. A., Neander, W., Markle, D. and Stewart, B. (2005) Improving the cultural competence of nursing students: results of integrating cultural content in the curriculum and an international immersion experience. *Journal of Nursing Education*. 44, 234–40.
- Campinha-Bacote, J. (2010) The Process of Cultural Competence in the Delivery of Healthcare Services. In Douglas, M. and Pacquiao, D. (eds.) Core Curriculum in Transcultural Nursing and Health Care. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 21 (1), 119s–27s.
- Carmeli, A. and Josman, Z. E. (2006) The relationship among emotional intelligence task performance, and organisational citizenship behaviors. *Human Performance*. 19 (4), 403–19.
- Carter, M. (2006) Cultural competency training for third-year clerkship students: effects of an interactive workshop on student attitudes. *Journal of the National Medical Association*. 98 (11), 1772–8.
- Chen, J-Y. (2010) Problem-based learning: developing resilience in nursing students. *Kaohsiung Journal of Medical Sciences*. 27, 230–3. [DOI:10.1016/j.kjms.2010.11.005]
- Chung, R., and Bemak, F. (2002) The relationship of culture and empathy in cross-cultural counseling. *Journal of Counseling and Development.* 80 (2), 154–9.
- Clarke, N. (2006) Developing emotional intelligence through workplace learning: findings from a case study in healthcare. *Human Resource Development International*. 9 (4). 447-465. [doi:10.1080/13678860601032585].
- Clements, A. (2013) "You could damage somebody's life": Student and lecturer perspectives on commitment and social work education. *Journal of Social Work Education*. 31(4) 91-104 [doi:10.1080/02615479.2012.741579] Forthcoming)
- Cohen-Katz, J. (2004) The effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on nurse stress and burnout: a quantitative and qualitative study... part of a series. *Holistic Nursing Practice*. 18 (6), 302–8.
- College of Social Work (2012) The Professional Capabilities Framework. London: COSW.

- Collins, S. (2008) Statutory social workers: stress, job satisfaction, coping, social support and individual differences. *British Journal of Social Work*. 38 (6), 1173–93.
- Corrin, A. (2013) What do student nurses think about their practice placement experiences? Interim findings from a qualitative research study. Royal College of Nursing [Internet]. Available from:

 <a href="http://www.rcn.org.uk/development/communities/rcn_forum_communities/education/news_sto_ries/what_do_student_nurses_think_about_their_practice_placement_experiences_la
- Coyle, D., Edwards, D., Hannigan, B., Fothergill, A. and Burnard, P. (2005) A systematic review of stress among mental health social workers. *International Social Work*. 48 (2), 2001–211. [DOI:10.1177/0020872805050492]
- Cunningham, M. (2004) Teaching social workers about trauma reducing the risks of vicarious traumatisation in the classroom. *Journal of Social Work Education*. 40, 305–7.
- Curtis, L., Moriarty, J. and Netten, A. (2009) The expected working life of a social worker. *British Journal of Social Work*. 40 (5), 1628–43.
- DasGupta, S. and Charon, R. (2004) Personal Illness Narratives: Using Reflective Writing to Teach Empathy. *Academic Medicine*. 79, 351–6.
- Deary, I. J. (2003) A longitudinal cohort study of burnout and attrition in nursing students. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*. 43, 71–81. [DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.2003.02674]
- DePanfilis, D. and Zlotnik, J. L. (2008) Retention of front-line staff in child welfare: a systematic review of research. *Children and Youth Services Review.* 30 (9), 995–1008. [DOI:10.1016/j.childyouth.2007.12.017]
- Dominell, L. and Hackett, S. (2013) Social work research: Highlighting diversity in theory, practice and education. *International Social Work*. 56 (2) 131–3. [DOI: 10.1177/0020872812474398]
- Edward, K. and Hercelinskyj, G. (2007) Burnout in the caring nurse: learning resilient behaviours. British Journal of Nursing.16 (4), 240–2.
- Elliott, T.R. and Gramling, S.E. (1990) Personal Assertiveness and the Effects of Social Support Among College Students. *Journal of Counseling Psychology.* 37 (4), 427-36. [DOI:10.1037/0022-0167.37.4.427]
- Eskin, M. (2003) Self-reported assertiveness in Swedish and Turkish adolescents: a cross-cultural comparison. Scandinavian Journal of Psychology. 44 (1), 7–12
- Fariselli, L., Ghini, M. and Freedman, J. (2008) Age and emotional intelligence [Internet]. White Paper. Available from: http://www.6seconds.org/sei/media/WP EQ and Age.pdf [Accessed 22 June 2013] .

- Fook, J. and Askeland, G. (2006) The "critical" in critical reflection. In White, S., Fook, J. and Gardner, F. (eds). *Critical Reflection in Health and Welfare*. Maidenhead: Open University Press.
- Foster, K. and McKenzie H (2012) Educational approaches to enhance emotional intelligence. In Hurley, J. and Linsley, P. (eds) (2012) *Emotional Intelligence in Health and Social Care: a guide for improving human relationships.* London: Radcliffe Publishing.
- Fredrickson, B. (2001) The Role of Positive Emotions in Positive Psychology. The Broaden-and-Build Theory of Positive Emotions. *American Psychology*. 56 (3), 218–26.
- Freshwater, D. and Stickley, T. (2004) The heart of the art: emotional intelligence in nurse education.

 Nursing Inquiry. 11 (2), 91–98.
- Foureur, M., Besley, K., Burton, G., Yu, N. and Crisp, J. (2013) Enhancing the resilience of nurses and midwives: pilot of a mindfulness-based program for increased health, sense of coherence and decreased depression, anxiety and stress *Contemporary Nurse* 45(1):114-25. [doi: 10.5172/conu.2013.45.1.114.]
- Gair, S. (2011) Creating spaces for critical reflection in social work education: Learning from a classroom based empathy project. *Reflective Practice*. 12, 791–802. [DOI:10.1080/14623943.2011.601099]
- George, J. (2000) Emotions and leadership: the role of emotional intelligence. *Human Relations*. 53, 1027–55.
- Gerdes, K., Segal, E., Jackson, K. and Mullins, J. (2011) Teaching empathy: A framework rooted in social cognitive neuroscience and social justice. *Journal of Social Work Education*. 47, 109–31.
- Gillespie, B., Chaboyer, W., Wallis, M. and Grimbeek, P. (2007) Resilience in the operating room: developing and testing of a resilience model. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*. 59 (4), 427–38. [DOI:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04340.x]
- Glass, N. (2007) Investigating women nurse academics' experiences in universities: the importance of hope, optimism and career resilience for workplace satisfaction. In Oermann, M. H, and Heinrich, K. T. (eds.) *Annual Review of Nursing Education*. 5, 111–36. New York: Springer
- Goleman, D. (1996) Emotional Intelligence: Why It Can Matter More Than IQ. London: Bloomsbury.
- Goleman, D. and Cherniss, C. (eds.) (2001) The Emotionally Intelligent Workplace; How to Select for,

 Measure and Improve Emotional Intelligence in Individuals Groups and Organisations. San Francisco:

 Jossey-Bass.

- Görgens-Ekermans, G. and Brand, T. (2012) Emotional intelligence as a moderator in the stress-burnout relationship: a questionnaire study on nurses. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*. 21 (15/16), 2275–85. [DOI:10.1111/j.1365-2702.2012.04171.x]
- Grant, L. (2013) Hearts and minds: aspects of empathy and wellbeing in social work students. Social Work Education: The International Journal. [DOI: 10.1080/02615479.2013.805191]
- Grant, L. and Kinman, G. (2012) Enhancing wellbeing in social work students; building resilience in the next generation. *Social Work Education: The International Journal.* 31, (5) [DOI.org/10.1080/02615479.2011.590931]
- Grant, L., Alexander, K. and Kinman, G. (2014) What's all this talk about emotion: Developing emotional literacy, the importance of reflective practice in Social Work students. Social work Education: The International Journal [Forthcoming].
- Grant, L. and Kinman, G. (2013 in press). "Bouncing Back?" Personal representations of resilience of student and experienced social workers. *Practice, Social Work in Action.* **25 (5) 349-366 [doi: 10.1080/09503153.2013.860092]**
- Grant, L., Kinman, G. and Baker, S. (2013 in press) *Emotional Resilience in the Social Work Curriculum:* findings of a research study. York: Higher Education Academy.
- Gyllensten, K. and Palmer, S. (2005) Can coaching reduce workplace stress? *The Coaching Psychologist*. I (1), 15–17.
- Haggerty, R., Sherrod, L., Garmezy, N. and Rutter, M. (eds.) (1996) Stress, Risk, and Resilience in Children and Adolescents. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hayes. S. C. (1997) A contextual approach to therapeutic change. In Hayes, S. C. and Jacobson, N. S. (eds.) (1987) *Psychotherapists in clinical practice: Cognitive and behavioral perspectives.* New York, New York; Guilford Press, 327–387.
- Health and Safety Executive (2010) Management Standards for Work Related Stress [Internet]. Available from: www.hse.gov.uk/stress/standards/ [Accessed 14th June 2013].
- Hentz, P., and Lauterbach, S. (2005) Becoming self-reflective: caring for self and others. *International Journal for Human Caring*. 9 (1), 24–28.
- Hodges, H., Keeley, A., and Troyan, P. (2008) Professional resilience in baccalaureate-prepared acute care nurses: first steps. *Nursing Education Perspectives*. 29 (2), 80-89.
- Howe, A., Smajdor, A., and Stöckl, A. (2012) Towards an understanding of resilience and its relevance to medical training. *Medical Education*. 46 (4), 349-356. [DOI:10.1111/j.1365-2923.2011.04188.x]

- Howe, D. (2008) The Emotionally Intelligent Social Worker. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hurley, J. and Linsley, P. (eds.) (2012) Emotional Intelligence in Health and Social Care: a guide for improving human relationships. London: Radcliffe Publishing.
- Hülsheger, U., Alberts, H., Feinholdt, A. and Lang, J. (2013) Benefits of mindfulness at work: the role of mindfulness in emotion regulation, emotional exhaustion, and job satisfaction. *Journal of Applied Psychology.* 98 (2), 310–25. [DOI: 10.1037/a0031313]
- Jack, G. and Donnellan, H. (2010) Recognising the Person within the Developing Professional:

 Tracking the Early Careers of Newly Qualified Child Care Social Workers in Three Local

 Authorities in England. Social Work Education. 29 (3), 305–18.
- Jackson, D., Hutchinson, M., Everett, B., Mannix, J., Peters, K., Weaver, R. and Salamonson, Y. (2011)

 Struggling for legitimacy: nursing students' stories of organisational aggression, resilience and resistance. *Nursing Inquiry*. 18 (2), 102–10. [DOI:10.1111/j.1440-1800.2011.00536.x]
- Jenkins, R. and Elliott, P. (2004) Stressors, burnout and social support: nurses in acute mental health settings. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*. 48, 622–31. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03240.x]
- Jensen, P., Trollope-Kumar, K., Waters, H. and Everson, J. (2008) Building physician resilience. *Canadian Family Physician*. 54 (5), 722–72.
- Jennings, B. M. (2008) Work Stress and Burnout Among Nurses: Role of the Work Environment and Working Conditions. In Hughes, R.G. (ed.) Patient Safety and Quality: An Evidence-Based Handbook for Nurses. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US).
- Jimenez, C., Navia-Osorio, P. and Diaz, C. (2010) Stress and health in novice and experienced nursing students. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*. 66 (2), 442–55. [DOI:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05183.x]
- Johnson, S, Donald, I., Taylor, P., Cooper, C., Cartwright, S. and Millet, C. (2005) The experience of work-related stress across occupations. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*. 20 (2), 178–87.
 [DOI:10.1108/02683940510579803]
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2003) Mindfulness-based interventions in context: Past, present, and future. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*. 10 (2), 144–56.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (2004) Wherever You Go, There You Are. London: Piatkus Books.
- Kessen, C. and Turner, K. (2012) Developing professional competence in graduate school: Student experiences of the social work curriculum. *Public Voices*. 12 (2), 10–18.
- Kevern, J., and Webb, C. (2004) Mature women's experiences of preregistration nurse education. [Journal of Advanced Nursing. 45 (3), 297–306. [DOI:10.1046/j.1365-2648.2003.02890.x]

- Killian, K. D. (2008) Helping till it hurts: A multi-method study of burnout, compassion fatigue and resilience in clinicians working with trauma survivors. *Traumatology*. 14, 31–44.
- Kinman, G. and Grant, L. (2011) Exploring Stress Resilience in Trainee Social Workers: The Role of Emotional and Social Competencies. *British Journal of Social Work.* 41 (2), 261–75. [DOI:10.1093/bjsw/bcq088]
- Kinman, G. and Jones, F. (2001) The Work-home Interface. In Jones, F. and Bright, J. (2001) Stress: *Myth, Theory and Research*. London: Prentice Hall.
- Koen, M. P., van Eeden, C. and Wissing, M. P.(2011) The prevalence of resilience in a group of professional nurses. *Health SA Gesondheid*. 16 (1), 1–11. [DOI:10:4102/hsag.v16i1.576]
- Krasner, M. S., Epstein, R. M., Beckman, H., Suchman, A. L., Chapman, B., Mooney, C. J. and Quill, T. E. (2009) Association of an educational program in mindful communication with burnout, empathy, and attitudes among primary care physicians. *JAMA*. 302, 1284–93.
- Li, P., Jiajia, Z., Min, L., Peipei, L., Yu, Z., Xin, Z. and Ying, X. (2012) Negative life events and mental health of Chinese medical students: The effect of resilience, personality and social support.

 Psychiatry Research. 196, 138–141. [DOI:10.1016/j.psychres.2011.12.006]
- Lloyd, J., Bond, F. W. and Flaxman, P. E. (2013) Identifying psychological mechanisms underpinning a cognitive behavioural therapy intervention for emotional burnout. *Work and Stress.* 27 (2), 181–99.
- Lloyd, C., King, R. and Chenoweth, L. (2002) Social work stress and burnout: A review. *Journal of Mental Health*. 1 (3), 255–65.
- Local Government Association (LGA) (2009) Challenges remain in social work retention and recruitment [Internet]. LGA press release. Available from: www.lga.gov.uk/lga/core/page.do?pageld=5549352 [Accessed 16th June 2012].
- Mann, K., Gordon, J. and MacLeod, A. (2009) Reflection and reflective practice in health professions education: a systematic review. Advances in Health Sciences Education: Theory and Practice. 14 (4), 595–621.
- Maslach, C., Jackson, S.E. and Leiter, M.P. (1996) *The Maslach Burnout Inventory*. 3rd ed. Palo Alto: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Maslach, C. (2001) Job burnout. Annual Review of Psychology. 52, 397-422.
- Mealer, M. (2012) The presence of resilience is associated with a healthier psychological profile in intensive care unit (ICU) nurses: Results of a national survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*. 49, 292–9. [DOI:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2011.09.015]

- McAllister, M. and Lowe, J.B. (2011) The resilient nurse: Empowering your practice. New York: Springer Publishing Co.
- McAllister, M. and McKinnon, J. (2008) The importance of teaching and learning resilience in the health disciplines: a critical review of the literature. *Nurse Education Today.* 29, 371–79.
- McCorkle, B. (2008) Increasing social support for individuals with serious mental illness: Evaluating the compeer model of intentional friendship. *Community Mental Health Journal.* 45 (5), 359–66.
- McDonald, G., Jackson, D., Wilkes, J. and Vickers, M. (2012) A work-based educational intervention to support the development of personal resilience in nurses and midwives. *Nurse Education Today.* 32, 378–84. [DOI:10.1016/j.nedt.2011.04.012]
- McDonald, G., Jackson, D., Wilkes, J. and Vickers, M. (2013) Personal Resilience in Nurses and Midwives: Effects of a work-based educational intervention. *Contemporary Nurse* 45(1) 134-143
- McQueen, A. C. H. (2004) Emotional intelligence in nursing work. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*. 47, 101–8. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03069.x]
- Mikolajczak, M., Luminet, O. and Menil, C. (2006) Predicting resistance to stress: Incremental validity of emotional intelligence over and above alexithymia and optimism. *Psicothema*. 18, 79–88.
- Montes-Berges, B. and Augusto, J.M. (2007) Exploring the relationship between perceived emotional intelligence, coping, social support and mental health in nursing students. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing.* 14, 163–71
- Morrison, T. (2005) Staff Supervision in Social Care. Making a Real Difference for Staff and Service Users. Brighton: Pavillion.
- Morrison, T. (2007) Emotional intelligence, emotion and social work: context, characteristics complications and contribution. *British Journal of Social Work.* 37, 245–63.
- Napoli, M. and Bonifas, R. (2011) From theory towards empathic self care: Creating a mindful classroom for social work students. *Social Work Education*. 30 (6), 635–49. [DOI:10.1080/02615479.2011.586560]
- Pau, A. A., Rowland, M. L., Naidoo, S. S., AbdulKadir, R. R., Makrynika, E. E., Moraru, R. R. and Croucher, R. R. (2007) Emotional intelligence and perceived stress in dental undergraduates: a multinational survey. *Journal of Dental Education*. 71 (2), 197–204.
- Pearcey, P. A. and Elliott, B. E. (2004) Student impressions of clinical nursing. *Nurse Education Today*. 24 (5), 382–7
- Pines, E. W., Rauschhuber, M. L., Norgan, G. H., Cook, J. D., Canchola, L., Richardson, C. and Jones, M. (2012) Stress resiliency, psychological empowerment and conflict management styles among

- baccalaureate nursing students. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*. 68 (7), 1482–93. [DOI:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2011.05875.x]
- Pipe, T. B. Bortz, J. J., Dueck, A., Pendergast, D., Buchda, V. and Summers, J. (2009) Nurse leader mindfulness meditation program for stress management: a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Nursing Administration*. 39 (3), 130–7. [DOI: 10.1097/NNA.0b013e31819894a0]
- Radey, M. M. and Figley, C. R. (2007) The social psychology of compassion. *Clinical Social Work Journal*. 35 (3), 207–14. [DOI:10.1007/s10615-007-0087-3]
- Roberts, D. (2009) Friendship fosters learning: the importance of friendships in clinical practice. *Nurse Education in Practice*. 9 (6), 367–71.
- Rosenzweig, S., Reibel, D. K., Greeson, J. M., Brainard, G. C. and Hojat, M. (2003) Mindfulness-based stress reduction lowers psychological distress in medical students. *Teaching and learning in medicine*. 15 (2), 88–92.
- Ruch, G. (2007) Reflective practice in child care social work: the role of containment. *British Journal of Social Work*. 37, 659–80.
- Salovey, P., Stroud, L. R., Woolery, A. and Epel, E. S. (2002) Perceived emotional intelligence, stress reactivity, and health. *Psychology and Health*. 17, 611–27.
- Sarason, B., Sarason, I., Hacker, T. and Basham, R. (1985) Concomitants of social support: Social skills, physical attractiveness and gender. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology.* 49 (2), 469–80.
- Sergeant, J. and Laws-Chapman, C. (2012) Creating a positive workplace culture. *Nursing Management UK.* 18 (9), 14–19.
- Shams-Avari P. (2005) Linguistic and cultural competency. Radiological Technology. 76 (6), 437–48.
- Shapiro, S. L., Brown, K. and Biegel, G. M. (2007) Teaching self-care to caregivers: Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction on the mental health of therapists in training. *Training and Education in Professional Psychology*. 1 (2), 105–15. [DOI:10.1037/1931-3918.1.2.105]
- Shapiro, S. L., and Carlson, L. E. (2009) The art and science of mindfulness: Integrating mindfulness into psychology and the helping professions. London: American Psychological Association.
- Short, E., Kinman, G. and Baker, S. (2010) Evaluating the impact of a peer coaching intervention on wellbeing amongst psychology undergraduate students. *International Coaching Psychology Review*. 5 (1), 29–37.

- Slaski, M. and Cartwright, S. (2003) Emotional intelligence training and its implications for stress, health and performance. Stress and Health: *Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress*. 19 (4), 233.
- Stalker, C. A., Mandell, D., Frensch, K.M., Harvey, C. and Wright, M. (2007) Child welfare workers who are exhausted yet satisfied with their jobs: how do they do it? *Child and Family Social Work*. 12 (2), 182–91.
- Stenier, C. and Perry, P. (1997) Achieving Emotional Literacy. London: Bloomsbury
- Stephens, T. (2013) Nursing Student Resilience: A Concept Clarification. *Nursing Forum.* 48 (2), 125–33. [DOI:10.1111/nuf.12015]
- Sundin, L., Hochwalder, J., Bildt, C. and Lisspers, J. (2007) The relationship between different work-related sources of social support and burnout among registered and assistant nurses in Sweden: a questionnaire survey. International *Journal of Nursing Studies*. 44, 758–69.
- The Observer (2008) 15 June 2008 [Internet]. Available from:

 http://www.guardian.co.uk/society/2008/jun/15/socialcare [Accessed 14th June 2014]
- Thomas, J., Jack, B., and Jincks, A. (2012) Resilience to care: A systematic review and meta-synthesis of the qualitative literature concerning the experiences of student nurses in adult hospital settings in the UK. *Nurse Education Today.* 32, 657–64. [DOI:10.1016/j.nedt.2011.09.005]
- Thomas, J. T. and Otis, M. D. (2010) Intrapsychic correlates of professional quality of life: Mindfulness, empathy, and emotional separation. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*. I (2) 83-98 [DOI:10.5243/jsswr.2010.7]
- Timmins, F. and McCabe, C. (2005) How assertive are nurses in the workplace? A preliminary pilot study. *Journal of Nurse Management*. 13 (1), 61–7.
- Tobin, P. J. and Carson, J. (1994) Stress and the student social worker. *Social Work and Social Sciences* Review. 5, 246–55.
- Turner, K. (2009) Mindfulness: The Present Moment in Clinical Social Work. *Clinical Social Work Journal*. 37 (2), 95–103.
- Van Heutgen, K. (2011) Social work under pressure; how to overcome stress, fatigue and burnout in the workplace. London: Jessica Kingsley Press.
- Van Rooy, D. L. and Viswesvaran, C. (2004) Emotional intelligence: a meta-analytic investigation of predictive validity and nomological net. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*. 65, 71–95.

Wilks, S. and Spivey, C. (2010) Resilience in undergraduate soci al work students: Social support and adjustment to academic stress. *Social Work Education*. 29, 276–88.

[DOI:10.1080/02615470902912243]